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          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning,

          3  everyone. My name is Leroy Comrie. I chair this

          4  Committee on Rules, Privileges and Elections.

          5  Together with my members that are present, to my

          6  left, getting ready to sit down is our Majority

          7  Leader Joel Rivera from the Bronx, to my extreme

          8  right is Council Member Tony Avella from Queens, and

          9  we have a whole Queens section to my right.

         10                 This is Council Member Melinda Katz

         11  from Queens, and Council Member David Weprin from

         12  Queens. We're being joined by Council Member Lew

         13  Fidler from Brooklyn.

         14                 Today we have before us six

         15  candidates for our review for positions in three

         16  separate boards. They are Mr. Mark Izeman, a

         17  resident of Manhattan, a direct reappointment by the

         18  Council to the Citywide Recycling Board whose term

         19  would expire on November 25th, 2003.

         20                 Mr. Joel Shurfro, a resident of

         21  Brooklyn, a direct reappointment by the Council to

         22  the Hazardous Substance Advisory Board, serving the

         23  balance of a three-year term expiring on August 9th,

         24  2003.

         25                 And Mr. Philip Weinberg, a resident
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          2  of Queens, a direct reappointment by the Council to

          3  the Hazardous Substance Advisory Board, serving the

          4  balance of a three-year term, expiring on August

          5  9th, 2003.

          6                 We also have Mr. David Pollak, a

          7  resident of Manhattan, a Council recommendation for

          8  the Youth Board, filling a vacant position for an

          9  undefined term.

         10                 Mr. Craig Eaton, a resident of

         11  Brooklyn, also a Council recommendation to the Youth

         12  Board, also filling a vacant position for an

         13  undefined term.

         14                 And Mr. Michael Shoultz, a resident

         15  of the Bronx, a Council recommendation to the Youth

         16  Board, filling a vacant position for an undefined

         17  term.

         18                 We're going to start with Mr. Izeman

         19  for the Citywide Recycling Advisory Board, Local Law

         20  19 of 1989 created the Citywide Recycling Advisory

         21  Board. It consists of 15 members, five appointed by

         22  the Mayor, five by the Council, and one from each of

         23  the Citizen Solid Waste Advisory Boards, which come

         24  from the Borough President's Office.

         25                 Membership must come from community
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          2  boards, recycling and carting businesses,

          3  environmental organizations, property owners,

          4  tenants and the general public. The term of office

          5  is for a period of one year.

          6                 The Board meets at least four times a

          7  year and reviews the Department of Sanitation's

          8  recycling program.

          9                 Appointees to the Board who have

         10  business interests in the recycling industry must

         11  disclose such with the Commissioner of Sanitation

         12  and their fellow Board members.

         13                 At this time we'd like to welcome Mr.

         14  Izeman, if you could raise your right hand to be

         15  sworn in, please.

         16                 You haven't been here in a year and

         17  the new policy of the Council is to swear in all

         18  witnesses.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         20  affirm the testimony you're about to give the

         21  Committee is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

         22  but the truth?

         23                 MR. IZEMAN: Yes, I do.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         25  your name for the record.
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          2                 MR. IZEMAN: Mark A. Izeman. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

          5  by Council Member Yvette Clarke from Brooklyn.

          6                 Mr. Izeman, do you have an opening

          7  statement or anything you'd like to share with us in

          8  the beginning?

          9                 MR. IZEMAN: I didn't prepare an

         10  opening statement. I'll just briefly say that I'm

         11  pleased to be considered for reappointment to the

         12  CRAB, primarily because the issues of solid waste

         13  and recycling are so important to the City, both

         14  environmentally and economically, and I'm pleased to

         15  be appointed by the City Council, because I consider

         16  the Council a long-time friend of recycling, and

         17  hope in my capacity I can continue to be a liaison

         18  between the City Council and the CRAB and to advise

         19  the Council on Solid Waste and Recycling issues.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, there was a

         21  couple of housekeeping issues, regarding your

         22  requirement to continue your disclosure whenever

         23  there may be a conflict. You have done so in the

         24  past in a timely manner and I'm sure you will

         25  continue to do so in the future, but it's part of
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          2  this Committee's obligation just to formally request

          3  that you continue to do so.

          4                 So, that being said, I'm sure that

          5  will be done.

          6                 MR. IZEMAN: That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Just to

          8  reiterate, you're a reappointment and you're a

          9  resident of Manhattan.

         10                 MR. IZEMAN: That's correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And do you have

         12  as an opening question an idea on, since we're

         13  talking about recycling in the City, and the need to

         14  reassess how we do recycling, do you have any

         15  general opinions which you'd like to share with this

         16  Committee?

         17                 MR. IZEMAN: Well, let me just briefly

         18  say that I think overall recycling has been a

         19  success story, thanks in large part to the City

         20  Council.

         21                 In the past the mandatory landmark

         22  recycling law in 1989, less than one percent of the

         23  City's garbage was being diverted for recycling and

         24  now we're recycling, earlier this year about 20

         25  percent was being diverted.
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          2                 And the key now is working to make

          3  the program more cost effective.

          4                 Recycling is a little bit like a

          5  teenager. It's still very young. It's taken many

          6  years to get the program up and running. Again, we

          7  had less than one percent in 1989, now we have

          8  recycling to 8 million residents. We have a large

          9  number of materials that historically over the last

         10  decade have been separated. And, so, by many

         11  measures the program has been a success.

         12                 As everyone knows, currently the

         13  collection of plastic and glass has been suspended

         14  in large part because of economic reasons, and so

         15  the challenge now is to ensure that the collection

         16  of all recycling materials is cost competitive with

         17  the alternatives, which is to export it to landfills

         18  incinerators out of the City.

         19                 The good news is that paper

         20  recycling, which just a few years ago people didn't

         21  think would make it here, is now a thriving

         22  enterprise and less expensive. Every ton of paper

         23  that's recycled is less expensive than metal, than

         24  landfilling it.

         25                 The challenge now is to make the
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          2  metal, glass and plastic program also cost

          3  competitive. We think that can happen and we're

          4  working to ensure that happens.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Have you given

          6  any testimony to the Recycling Commission that's in

          7  the process of coming up with some new ideas on how

          8  to efficiently recycle in light of the budget crisis

          9  that we're all facing?

         10                 MR. IZEMAN: Well, we've informally

         11  met with some members of the Recycling Task Force,

         12  which I believe is the body you're referring to,

         13  which was created by statute. Unfortunately that

         14  task force has not held any public hearings or any

         15  public meetings or invited anyone to testify before

         16  it in any formal way, something that we believe

         17  should happen.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Have they had any

         19  informal meetings?

         20                 MR. IZEMAN: We've had some informal

         21  meetings with some of the members, and we'll

         22  continue to do that. And perhaps most importantly,

         23  the organization that I work for, the Natural

         24  Resources Defense Council, the Citywide Recycling

         25  Advisory Board, and others are trying to come up
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          2  together with a set of joint recommendations that we

          3  can advance to that task force into the City Council

          4  and to the Mayor on how over the next couple of

          5  months, on how we can ensure that the metal, glass

          6  and plastic program is strengthened, is made more

          7  cost competitive.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, they did

          9  ask for more time. I think all parties agreed that

         10  more time was necessary so they could come with a

         11  comprehensive plan. Have you gotten any kind of --

         12  is the Advisory Board going to submit a statement

         13  prior to their finishing the task force plan?

         14                 MR. IZEMAN: I believe so. I can't

         15  speak fully on behalf of the CRAB. Again, the CRAB,

         16  along with NRDC and other groups, we have been

         17  meeting regularly to see if we can come up with a

         18  joint set of recommendations that we would produce,

         19  say, over the next month to six weeks, to give the

         20  recycling task force plenty of time to consider

         21  those recommendations.

         22                 We think that the extension of time

         23  made a lot of sense, because people are still trying

         24  to get the right information, and we want to read --

         25  basically the whole metal, glass and plastic program
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          2  has to be rebuilt and we want to do it the right

          3  way.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is there a City

          5  or a municipality, when I say municipality, a large

          6  urban city that has a very efficient recycling

          7  program that you're aware of?

          8                 MR. IZEMAN: Well, San Francisco is

          9  probably, from a large City perspective the best

         10  City example of how recycling can be done, and we

         11  could have a whole hearing on the differences

         12  between the San Francisco and the New York Program,

         13  but there's more of a commitment by the City

         14  government to make recycling work there. There has

         15  been more investment in recycling infrastructure,

         16  there's been stronger public education and outreach

         17  to residents, and as a result of that, all of those

         18  reasons, they are in better shape, by many different

         19  measures, including cost, and the Committee might be

         20  interested to know that they're even advancing a

         21  foodwaste composting program, Citywide, they've

         22  started off with a pilot program for commercial

         23  entities. So, recycling has advanced, ten years ago

         24  San Francisco and New York City were about even, in

         25  terms of building a recycling program. San Francisco
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          2  has now far moved ahead of New York City. But none

          3  of this is rocket science recycling. It just

          4  requires the commitment, it requires getting the

          5  right private investment, it requires the right

          6  public education.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Does San

          8  Francisco's program pay for itself?

          9                 MR. IZEMAN: I have not seen -- by pay

         10  for itself, I assume you mean --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Break even or

         12  make a profit?

         13                 MR. IZEMAN: Well, I think that it's

         14  important when considering recycling that the

         15  standard really should be is it cheaper than the

         16  alternatives. Every time you pick up a bag of

         17  garbage the City loses money. We're never going to

         18  make money on garbage collection.

         19                 Recycling is the only solid waste

         20  alternative that can come down in price and can be

         21  less expensive than incineration or landfilling.

         22  Landfilling and incineration will never come down in

         23  price. It's only going to continue to escalate.

         24                 Recycling for paper, we've seen has

         25  come down in price. Recycling for metal, glass and
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          2  plastic is also coming down in price, so the

          3  challenge is to make it less expensive than the

          4  alternatives, something that paper is already at.

          5                 We think that that can happen also

          6  from metal, glass and plastic.

          7                 The City officials in San Francisco

          8  have communicated to us that it is cost competitive

          9  or cheaper than the alternative landfilling

         10  incineration. I have not studied it in any detail.

         11  It's a very tricky area, you really have to spend

         12  time looking at the numbers, but their position is

         13  that it is cheaper than the alternatives.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All right,

         15  I will stop asking questions at this point, and

         16  defer to my members. No one has tapped me on the

         17  shoulder.

         18                 Going once, going twice? All right,

         19  thank you, Mr. Izeman. I believe you have studied

         20  this subject and I hope that you will get an

         21  opportunity to talk to the task force in details so

         22  that we can come up with the best and most cost

         23  effective recycling program, which is needed in the

         24  City.

         25                 So, thank you for coming this
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          2  morning. We'll be voting shortly.

          3                 MR. IZEMAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, the next

          5  candidate is Mr. Philip Weinberg, who is going to be

          6  reappointed to the Hazardous Substance Advisory

          7  Board.

          8                 The Hazardous Substance Advisory

          9  Board was created by Local Law 26 of 1988, as

         10  amended by Local Law 24 of 1989. There are nine

         11  members chaired by the Commissioner of the

         12  Department of Environmental Protection. The other

         13  members are appointed as follows: Four by the Mayor

         14  and four by the Council.  Terms are for three years

         15  and members must have a working knowledge of

         16  emergency response procedures or managing hazardous

         17  material.

         18                 The Board must meet four times per

         19  year to share information and review recommendations

         20  for management of hazardous materials.

         21                 The Board specifically reviews plans

         22  for responding to extremely hazardous substance

         23  under the emergency planning and community right to

         24  know law.

         25                 Okay, Mr. Weinberg, could you raise
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          2  your right hand and be sworn in, please?

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          4  affirm the testimony you're about to give the

          5  Committee is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

          6  but the truth?

          7                 MR. WEINBERG: I do.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

          9  your name for the record.

         10                 MR. WEINBERG: Philip Weinberg.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you press the

         12  mic? When the light is off, it means the mic is on.

         13                 MR. WEINBERG: Oh, okay. That's a

         14  little bit better.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, it's

         16  counter-intuitive.

         17                 MR. WEINBERG: I can hear myself now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, good

         19  morning. Do you have an opening statement, Mr.

         20  Weinberg?

         21                 MR. WEINBERG: Once again, like Mark

         22  Izeman, I have no formal opening statement, but I

         23  will say to the Council that I'm delighted to be

         24  considered to reappointment.

         25                 I think this is a very important
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          2  Board that I serve on, I take the responsibility

          3  seriously.

          4                 The issue is certainly absolutely

          5  vital to make sure that the amount of hazardous

          6  substances that is stored and released and responded

          7  to by the agencies of the City of New York is

          8  reduced and kept under control, and if I could play

          9  a role in that process, I'm delighted to continue to

         10  do so.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And Mr.

         12  Joel Shufro, can you raise your right hand and be

         13  sworn in, please? You're going for the same

         14  Hazardous Substance Advisory Board?

         15                 MR. SHUFRO: Yes, I am.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         17  affirm the testimony you're about to give is the

         18  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         19                 MR. SHUFRO: Yes.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         21  your name for the record.

         22                 MR. SHUFRO: My name is Joel Shufro.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you have an

         25  opening statement, Mr. Shufro.
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          2                 MR. SHUFRO: Well, like the two

          3  candidates preceding me, I did not bring a formal

          4  statement. I am pleased to be reconsidered for this

          5  position.

          6                 I have served I guess since the law

          7  was instituted, some ten, 12 years ago, and I think

          8  that this is a very important and vital Committee

          9  and function of the City, and I would be pleased to

         10  serve as I have in the past.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. The only

         12  reason I introduced Mr. Weinberg first is because

         13  he's from Queens.

         14                 Do any of the members have questions?

         15                 Council Member Katz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'd be remiss if

         17  I didn't make a statement that Professor Weinberg

         18  was there when I was at St. John's Law School. He's

         19  probably partly to blame for me being up here right

         20  now, so I have you to blame for that.

         21                 I also ended up being an Adjunct

         22  Professor for Constitutional Law at Queens College.

         23                 MR. WEINBERG: Really?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes. Just so you

         25  know.
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          2                 MR. WEINBERG: What grade did he give

          3  you?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: He wants to be

          5  appointed.

          6                 Actually, I treasured those years

          7  very much and I thank Professor Weinberg for being

          8  here again, as I do all the candidates, but it's

          9  always nice seeing a St. John's Law School grad.

         10  Thanks.

         11                 MR. WEINBERG: Thanks very much. I

         12  appreciate the comment.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Professor I

         14  meant. I'm the grad.

         15                 MR. WEINBERG: You weren't in any of

         16  my classes, were you?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I don't want to

         18  discuss that. No, I thank you for all the work that

         19  you did at St. John's Law School, it really was

         20  terrific.

         21                 MR. WEINBERG: And a thank you for all

         22  that you've done.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, gentlemen,

         24  I have a general question.

         25                 As you may know, the Council this
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          2  year was trying to look to change the reporting for

          3  hazardous substance, hazardous waste locations, and

          4  people that handled hazardous substances to make a

          5  more open reporting so that community boards and

          6  emergency services could be aware of where those

          7  locations were prior to an accident or a spill. Did

          8  either of you get a chance to review that bill, or

          9  what are your comments on making sure that the

         10  emergency services would have an opportunity to have

         11  some pre-knowledge of where those locations are?

         12                 MR. WEINBERG: I haven't seen the bill

         13  itself. I'd be interested in seeing the bill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         15                 MR. WEINBERG: But I think it is

         16  essential that we make that information available,

         17  that's precisely what the community Right to Know

         18  law modeled under federal law, of course, was

         19  designed to do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I would

         21  hope that you have a chance to take a look at it,

         22  the police had some reservations because of the

         23  terrorist threat, which we thought was a little

         24  overkill actually, but, you know, it's important

         25  that local communities have, and especially the fire
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          2  and EMS and those critical services that have to

          3  respond to maybe at a moment's notice to a hazardous

          4  waste bill or a location that makes toxins for

          5  whatever their purpose is, and not only for business

          6  purposes or to ship somewhere else, that they know

          7  where those locations are so that they can come in

          8  prepared as to wait for five minutes to find out

          9  exactly how to handle a toxic substance. So, we

         10  would hope that you get a chance to weigh in on

         11  that.

         12                 MR. WEINBERG: I agree with you

         13  completely that that's the purpose of the law.

         14                 MR. SHUFRO: Yes, I in fact testified

         15  at one of the hearings that was held on that bill,

         16  and we agreed with the Council's position that this

         17  is a vital interest in terms of keeping community

         18  members and the emergency services informed about

         19  the toxic substances.

         20                 We do have a belief, or at least I

         21  have a belief, I'm speaking for myself, that key in

         22  the right to know law itself is a provision that for

         23  facilities handling extremely hazardous substances,

         24  that there is a requirement for filing what is

         25  called a toxic use reduction plan, which has not
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          2  been enforced by the Department.

          3                 We believe that the most effective

          4  way of dealing with the concerns of the Police

          5  Department is by reducing the use of toxic

          6  substances in the communities, and we would really

          7  urge that the Council look at that section of the

          8  law and expand it and increase the requirements.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         10                 Sorry, I got a little distracted, but

         11  it does sound like both of you gentlemen are well

         12  aware of the need of the right to know law and to

         13  try to advocate that from your board.

         14                 Do you get to release public

         15  statements during the year?

         16                 MR. WEINBERG: Well, we haven't --

         17  we've been dealing informally at the quarterly

         18  meetings with DEP, the Fire Department and the other

         19  agencies, and we testified, both Joel and myself,

         20  before the Council on various occasions over the

         21  years, so to that extent -- and met informally with

         22  members of the Council, typically with whoever is

         23  heading the Environmental Protection Committee. We

         24  certainly try to be visible.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.
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          2                 MR. SHUFRO: The Board itself does

          3  not, outside of its annual report, make a public

          4  statement. But as Phil said, not only have we

          5  testified and met with members of the Council on

          6  occasion when we thought the Council needed to be

          7  informed of matters of policy, we've written

          8  directly to both the Chairman of the Environmental

          9  Protection Committee and at times to the Speaker of

         10  the Assembly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Thank you

         12  very much, gentlemen. We'll be voting shortly.

         13                 MR. SHUFRO: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Welcome back.

         15                 We've been joined by Council Member

         16  Maria Baez from the Bronx, Council Member Madeline

         17  Provenzano, as well, and Council Member Quinn.

         18                 Hi. Council Member Christine Quinn is

         19  here also.

         20                 All right, at this point we're going

         21  to interview the three candidates at one time for

         22  the filling of the positions for the Youth Board and

         23  the Youth Board serves as a forum to review all

         24  welfare of the City's youth.

         25                 The Board consists of 28 members
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          2  appointed by the Mayor, 14 of whom are appointed

          3  upon recommendations of the Council.

          4                 The Board must be representative of

          5  the community, and include persons representing the

          6  areas of social services, health care, education,

          7  business, industry and labor.

          8                 The Board meets quarterly and the

          9  members serve without compensation. So, this is

         10  truly public service.

         11                 We have, again, Mr. David Pollack, a

         12  resident of Manhattan. Mr. Craig Eaton, a resident

         13  of Brooklyn, and Mr. Michael Shoultz, a resident of

         14  the Bronx.

         15                 Would you all raise your right hands

         16  at one time and be sworn in, please.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         18  affirm the testimony you're about to give the

         19  Committee is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

         20  but the truth?

         21                 MR. POLLAK: I do.

         22                 MR. EATON: I do.

         23                 MR. SHOULTZ: I do.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please

         25  individually state your names for the record.
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          2                 MR. SHOULTZ: Mike Shoultz.

          3                 MR. POLLAK: David Pollak.

          4                 MR. EATON: Craig Eaton.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Gentlemen, do you

          6  have an opening statement? We'll start with Mr.

          7  Eaton.

          8                 MR. EATON: No, I do not. I just want

          9  to thank the Committee and the New York City Council

         10  for the opportunity to appear before you.

         11                 It's an honor and a privilege to be

         12  selected as a candidate for this Board. And I think

         13  that the youth is the true future of our community

         14  and our City, and I think that the Youth Board

         15  serves a vital job for the interest of every member

         16  of the City of New York.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         18                 Mr. Eaton. Oh, I'm sorry, Mr.

         19  Shoultz.

         20                 MR. SHOULTZ: I am also honored to be

         21  recommended for the Youth Board.

         22                 I concur that it's a vital link to

         23  our future, the youth, and I am deeply, deeply

         24  honored to serve.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And Mr. Pollak.
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          2                 MR. POLLAK: I also would like to

          3  thank the Chair and the members of the Committee. I

          4  think it's always been an important part of my view

          5  of what a private sector person should do, is to

          6  give back to the community. The service that I've

          7  tried to give back has always been in the area of

          8  youth and youth development. I look forward to the

          9  opportunity to serve on this board.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         11                 Questions? Council Member Weprin.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I'd just like

         13  to state for the record that I've known one of the

         14  nominees, David Pollak, for a number of years. We've

         15  worked together at Donaldson, Lufkin and Jenrette in

         16  public finance, and we also worked together at

         17  Peabody -- at Paine Webber, Incorporated, for a

         18  number of years, and I can personally attest to his

         19  integrity, his reputation for honesty, and he's one

         20  of the few individuals that I have worked with over

         21  the years in the private sector that really has a

         22  true commitment to the public service and to

         23  community involvement, and he has been involved in

         24  numerous charitable and public-related activities

         25  pro bono for all his years on Wall Street, and I
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          2  think he will make an outstanding member of the

          3  Youth Board and I highly endorse his nomination.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

          5  by Speaker Miller, who has a very tight schedule so

          6  I'd like to open it so that he can be allowed to

          7  vote at this time.

          8                 Speaker Miller.

          9                 SPEAKER MILLER: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman. I vote aye.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right, thank

         12  you.

         13                 The next person that had a question

         14  was Council Member Joel Rivera, the Majority Leader.

         15  Sorry.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

         17  much, Chairman.

         18                 I'd like to also take this

         19  opportunity to also state that I know two of the

         20  candidates for the Youth Board, Michael Shoultz, and

         21  Davie Pollak, and to my knowledge of their

         22  histories, they're both outstanding citizens and I

         23  have full confidence with their, in their positions

         24  they'll be able to serve the youth within the City

         25  of New York.
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          2                 Now, some people say I'm part of the

          3  youth because of my age, and I want to make sure

          4  that anybody we appoint to this Board will be

          5  effective and will do justice to the Youth Board,

          6  and I believe these candidates would do just that.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

          9  Baez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: My question is

         11  for Mr. Shoultz.

         12                 There are communities in our city

         13  with high rates of high school dropouts, what

         14  suggestions would you make to target this group of

         15  youth?

         16                 MR. SHOULTZ: Well, I am extremely --

         17  I think it's important that the youth have some

         18  sense of looking at mentoring from people in

         19  positions under jobs, and I think that if some of

         20  the City agencies could use some of the -- use as

         21  volunteers to work for them, so that they could see

         22  a sense of empowerment of their jobs, so they could

         23  shadow them every day, I think that's very, very

         24  important.

         25                 One of the things we have, a lot of

                                                            28

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  issues as it relates to home, and sometimes youth

          3  don't have any place to go, and sometimes when

          4  people work at jobs, these youth can somehow be

          5  mentored by these staff members and I think that

          6  those things are very, very important to give them a

          7  sense of empowerment.

          8                 So, I'm hoping that every City agency

          9  will somehow use youth as a volunteer as part of

         10  mentoring so that somehow they show them that you

         11  need to go back to school, you need to foster your

         12  education. Now education is very important.

         13                 So, I'm a big advocate for that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Just for the

         15  record, I just want to speak about Mr. Shoultz who

         16  also was employed by me when I was Chief Clerk to

         17  the Board of Elections, and I had the pleasure of

         18  working with this individual who is a very dedicated

         19  and committed individual to our community, and I

         20  strongly feel that UND would be a great asset to the

         21  Youth Board.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MR. SHOULTZ: Thank you very much,

         24  Councilwoman Baez.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilman Lew
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          2  Fidler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I apologize,

          4  Mr. Chairman, I was discussing issues of Land Use

          5  with the Land Use chair.

          6                 I have a particular interest in these

          7  three appointments because I chair the Youth

          8  Services Committee in the Council, and, so, I took a

          9  look at your answers, particularly regarding Beacon

         10  programs in the City, which each of you seem to

         11  agree represented very important and integral part

         12  of our program for youth in this City.

         13                 You may or may not be aware that we

         14  just issued a new RFP to Beacon providers, or we're

         15  about to, so there are a number of changes that may

         16  occur in this program.

         17                 The providers have expressed a great

         18  deal of concern about unfunded mandates, asking the

         19  Beacons to do more, and yet not increasing their

         20  budgets.

         21                 Recognizing the push/pull between

         22  resources and results, and what we are asking of our

         23  beacons, I think each of your stated desire to see

         24  the beacons as a center of community life as an

         25  increasing program, how would each of you resolve
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          2  that issue, at least in terms of asking the beacons

          3  to do more with less, how do you see the beacon

          4  program, the future of the beacon program, and what

          5  would you as counselieris (sic) to DYCD suggest that

          6  they do?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Either person can

          8  start.

          9                 MR. EATON: Thank you, Councilman

         10  Fidler.

         11                 I think part of the problem is the

         12  funding. And the beacon programs are very successful

         13  programs. They give the young children or the youth

         14  an opportunity to do something else after school.

         15                 I happen to be a member of the Board

         16  of Heartshare Human Services, which controls one of

         17  the Beacon schools in Bayridge, Brooklyn, and what

         18  they're doing is they're trying to obtain funding

         19  from private sources to run all of their programs,

         20  and that would indeed assist them with the beacon

         21  program.

         22                 But what I've seen in my adult life,

         23  in working on a lot of different boards that affect

         24  youth, is that many times after school with working

         25  parents, mothers and fathers working today in the

                                                            31

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  financial condition that they have to, there's

          3  nowhere for the children to go.

          4                 The beacon program gives them a place

          5  to spend time to meet other children and youth

          6  similarly situated, it also gives them social

          7  service and social outreach ideas. It gives them

          8  benefits, mentoring, gives them job incentives and

          9  things like that.

         10                 But look at the economic condition of

         11  the City of New York as we sit here today, I don't

         12  believe we would be able to continue with these

         13  programs without getting some funding from either

         14  the federal government or the state government or

         15  some private funding.

         16                 Getting the money from the City alone

         17  is not going to let us continue with any of the

         18  programs that we offer, not only to the youth, but

         19  to everyone else on a broad stroke throughout the

         20  City.

         21                 So, I think we need to look at other

         22  avenues for funding. I don't know if we can go to

         23  private funding, I don't know if they can do

         24  fundraising activities, or things of that sort, but

         25  I think that's something that needs to be explored.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Actually, Mr.

          3  Eaton, I believe beacons are mandated to do private

          4  funding, and one of the complaints of the providers

          5  is that some beacons are situated in communities

          6  where private funding and fundraising ability is

          7  more readily accessible than others, creating a

          8  disparity between beacons.

          9                 So, I guess, and I'm jumping in

         10  before the other two of you answer, you know, for my

         11  own bias, I was hoping to hear you all indicate that

         12  a penny that's spent on youth services is a dollar

         13  we don't spend on drug treatment, incarceration,

         14  district attorneys, additional police and perhaps

         15  that you would advocate for it being more of a

         16  priority within our City budget, but that's from

         17  where I'm sitting. I would commend that philosophy

         18  to each of you.

         19                 MR. EATON: And I agree with you. I

         20  have three young children myself, and part of our

         21  goal, my wife and I is to make sure that they

         22  achieve the best that they can in grammar school and

         23  high school so that they can advance to college and

         24  then hopefully further, and I agree with you, every

         25  dollar that we spend on youth is a worthwhile

                                                            33

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  dollar, because hopefully it will reduce the need

          3  for prevention programs in the future and criminal

          4  justice dollars.

          5                 MR. SHOULTZ: I just think that

          6  businesses can offer, or there can be a tax break to

          7  profit and non-profit businesses, so that they could

          8  bring youth into their facility, and I know that

          9  right now beacon schools are housed in junior high

         10  schools but somehow we can get businesses involved,

         11  can offer them tax breaks so that somehow it could

         12  offset some of the costs that we're having regarding

         13  our fiscal crisis.

         14                 MR. POLLAK: Councilman, the concept

         15  that a community-based approach to youth development

         16  saves money in the long term from jail care,

         17  welfare, the whole host of social spending on

         18  Correction that we have to provide is a very clear

         19  and simple concept. In the private sector they call

         20  it marketing, in the public sector they call it

         21  advocacy. The best programs that get the most

         22  support and the most fundings are the one that

         23  people believe are successful or understand the

         24  concept of.

         25                 I would think it an important role
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          2  that people on this Committee could play in support

          3  of your efforts and department efforts to get the

          4  good story out there and get the logic of the beacon

          5  schools, out to people who will fund programs,

          6  perhaps they might even be more willing to fund

          7  programs that aren't in the areas where their

          8  businesses are if they understand the concept and

          9  the logic and the success of how beacon schools can,

         10  again, support youth on the front side, and combat

         11  social ills on the back-side.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I want to

         13  thank you all for your answers.

         14                 I just would commend to you that as

         15  members of the Youth Board, I feel it's incumbent

         16  upon that Board to press funding for youth services

         17  together. That becomes your constituency, and, so,

         18  when the budget axe comes swinging, if the Youth

         19  Board isn't speaking of the youth programs, and

         20  hopefully in consultation with the providers, you

         21  know, it's a voice that will be missing, so I hope

         22  you'll do that, and then before Councilman Avella,

         23  Amico Tony Avella, says something to you, the term

         24  counselieri was meant as literal translation of

         25  counselors, nothing more than that, I don't know why
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          2  you would even think I would -- let's not be so

          3  sensitive.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

          5  by Minority Leader James Oddo from Staten Island.

          6  And I just do want to note that we do have some

          7  visitors in the gallery, and welcome to the City

          8  Council. I hope that you enjoy your day and stay

          9  here.

         10                 Next and last, unless somebody else,

         11  Council Member Yvette Clarke.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair.

         14                 Gentlemen, I just want to get a sense

         15  of, you know, what your vision is, to be quite

         16  honest. I think that we're really in danger if we're

         17  not already in the midst of a generation of young

         18  people who will unfortunately not be doing better

         19  than the generation that preceded them. And it has

         20  become very apparent in light of our fiscal crisis

         21  that our young people, while there's a lot of

         22  rhetoric out there, really just not a priority and

         23  is not as high a priority as they should be.

         24                 When you look at all of the

         25  institutions that we have that would facilitate
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          2  their positive growth and development, they're all

          3  pretty much in disrepair and some phase of being

          4  reinvented, I wanted to get a sense of what role you

          5  think the community at large can play, and what role

          6  a board that is affiliated with a community

          7  development arm can do to sort of bring the village

          8  concept to life, if you understand what I'm talking

          9  about. We often times, I mean I've heard how the

         10  private sector should come to the rescue since I was

         11  a kid, do you know what I'm saying? We've heard

         12  about the various after school programs, they come

         13  and they go, and in the midst of that there are just

         14  so many young people getting lost and not really

         15  having a true opportunity to manifest the positive

         16  outcome.

         17                 Can you give me your sense of what

         18  this Youth Board can do in terms of energizing the

         19  community at large, where I think a lot of goodwill

         20  resides but unfortunately we don't tap into it.

         21                 MR. POLLAK: Council Member, I think

         22  you're exactly right. I do think there is a

         23  tremendous reservoir of goodwill. I think that the

         24  actions of government and the not-for-profit sector

         25  is often talked down by people in government and
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          2  people in the community, and I think what that has

          3  done is created the sort of sense that there is

          4  nothing that can be done.

          5                 I reject that outright. I think that

          6  we have no alternative but to address the needs of

          7  youth if the City is going to survive in the long

          8  term.

          9                 I don't want to be part of the first

         10  generation as you mentioned that's going to leave

         11  the world worse off than the generation before.

         12                 I think if you look at historically

         13  during some of the great periods of New York City

         14  there was a multi-sector cooperation on building the

         15  City business. It was a big part of philanthropy, it

         16  was a big part of government, and I think that

         17  without a multi-sectoral approach and a

         18  multi-sectoral evaluation of the importance of youth

         19  and youth services, the City, I mean let's face it,

         20  the City will die.

         21                 I think the unemployment rate among

         22  youth, the incarceration rate among youth,

         23  especially youth who are not educated well, is

         24  frightening to anyone. I think the message needs to

         25  get out, I think the programs that are good need to
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          2  be advocated, and I think the resources need to be

          3  put behind them and in working together across

          4  sectors and across approaches, is we must get that

          5  done.

          6                 MR. SHOULTZ: Intrinsically we all

          7  must be calm and advocate for youth.

          8                 I think when you look at the fact

          9  that we all were youth one day, it's important that

         10  we go back and we start to look at some of the

         11  things that we needed to get us to where we need to

         12  be.

         13                 I think that that cannot be lost by

         14  anyone of us, and I think when we start to look at

         15  those things that was needed for us, I think the

         16  same holds true for the Youth today. They need those

         17  mentoring programs. They need people to take to the

         18  side and say, you know, maybe you should do this. I

         19  think that sometimes we, in a society that is so

         20  fast paced, it sometimes gets lost on the youth. And

         21  I think you're right, you know, there's a program

         22  here today and it's lost tomorrow. We have to hold

         23  onto that, because as this gentleman said here

         24  before, is that if we don't take care of the youth,

         25  then we start to look at our future as being very
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          2  bleak. We have to all be an advocate for youth,

          3  taking them in, finding out how we can individually

          4  do something for them, in terms of empowering them.

          5  And I think as part of being on the Youth Board is

          6  that my role will be that everyone gets involved in

          7  some way, proactively.

          8                 MR. EATON: I agree with my

          9  colleagues. But I think the community, faced with

         10  the budget crisis that we're in, I think one of the

         11  things we really need to do now is get the community

         12  and the community businesses and the community

         13  organization and the youth groups in the community

         14  more actively involved in the Youth Board

         15  activities.

         16                 But I think we need to start first

         17  with financial support. If we do not get the

         18  financial support, then a lot of our programs will

         19  die. So we need to reach out, I'm on the Board of

         20  four or five different youth organizations now, and,

         21  you know, one is in my children's school at St.

         22  Ansom's in Brooklyn, and we basically ourselves. We

         23  run a golf outing and we run all these different

         24  programs throughout the year, and we probably raise

         25  50 to 75,000 dollars. Obviously we need a lot more

                                                            40

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  than that for the Youth Board programs.

          3                 But I think we need to start

          4  somewhere. I mean, like I stated earlier, my three

          5  children are in Catholic school at St. Ansom's in

          6  Brooklyn. Until I sat on the Board of Heartshare, I

          7  didn't know what a Beacon school was. And I think

          8  it's probably fair to say that a lot of people in

          9  certain communities that don't have an exposure or

         10  don't have children in the circles of the beacon

         11  school children, don't know what it is. And I think

         12  we need to bring that awareness to everyone.

         13                 So, I think I would say that one of

         14  my goals would be to reach out to the communities

         15  and all the communities, not just my community, but

         16  to let these communities know what these communities

         17  are all about.

         18                 When I had to answer these questions

         19  that were posed to me, I had to do some research

         20  because I really wasn't knowledgeable about it, and

         21  I learned a lot in the last few days.

         22                 But there are probably a lot of

         23  people similarly situated that aren't aware of what

         24  it offers, and the needs that the youth have.

         25                 So, I would say we need to start at
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          2  the very beginning. We need to educate the people,

          3  let them know what the beacon schools and all the

          4  youth programs are about, try and integrate them

          5  into the program, and then try to get help from them

          6  financially.

          7                 Further then I would go down the line

          8  I think at that point, and besides financial

          9  support, we should then seek some social service

         10  from them. Maybe they can offer internships for the

         11  children. Maybe they can give jobs and do other

         12  things to assist these kids to become more

         13  productive members of society.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No other

         15  questions?

         16                 Well, then in that case I want to

         17  thank all three of you gentlemen for wanting to

         18  serve our City.

         19                 Oh, I didn't see you, Council member.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That's quite

         21  all right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry.

         23  Council Member Bill Perkins.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I was late so

         25  I got the appropriate chair. The Council has
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          2  recently done some remarkable work, particularly

          3  through our Women's Issues Committee, and our Public

          4  Safety Committee, exposing so-to-speak the phenomena

          5  of under-aged prostitution, which obviously is a

          6  youth issue, and I was wondering if you had any

          7  thoughts about that, it's a growing phenomena in our

          8  City, how you feel you might want to impact on that,

          9  if at all, or are you familiar with that phenomena?

         10                 MR. EATON: I'm not familiar with

         11  under-age prostitution.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: A lot of

         13  teenagers are getting involved with prostitution. I

         14  think a lot more than we thought.

         15                 MR. EATON: Personally I thought a lot

         16  of the problem there is, we would need to -- instead

         17  of arresting them and throwing them in jail, which

         18  they would then get out a few weeks later and

         19  continue the problem, I think we need to look at

         20  other programs to try and educate them and change

         21  that routine.

         22                 I mean, I know there's a lot of

         23  programs now that the District Attorney in Brooklyn

         24  is offering for first offenders. They started with a

         25  mentoring program. I think I would want to approach
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          2  that, not from a criminal aspect, but sort of an

          3  educational aspect to try and change them early on,

          4  instead of throwing them in jail, burdening the

          5  system with the criminal justice cost for them, and

          6  just really continuing that problem because they're

          7  never going to get out of that cycle, if we just

          8  prosecute them.

          9                 MR. SHOULTZ: I just believe that

         10  we're talking about social ills. There is a

         11  self-esteem issue here. I work as a career advisor

         12  at workforce development, Effron and Associates

         13  (phonetic), and one of my jobs is to talk to some of

         14  the youth regarding social ills, and a lot of it

         15  really stems from having a healthy self-esteem.

         16                 When you start to talk about the fact

         17  that prostitution is rising within the country with

         18  the young people like that, that is really a red

         19  flag. We really need to address this issue regarding

         20  their self-esteem. And start to really have agencies

         21  really tailored toward more the intrinsic nature of

         22  what is the problem. Maybe the problem is you're not

         23  being valued in some way and that you feel this is

         24  your way of getting attention or whatever.

         25                 I think this is hugely important in
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          2  terms of getting youths to understand how important

          3  they really are.

          4                 So, I believe that self-esteem

          5  classes, mentoring programs that allow youths to

          6  understand how important they are, you know, there's

          7  an old saying, you can dress it up but it really

          8  doesn't mean anything.

          9                 These youths are crying out, they

         10  need help and a part of it is the reason why you get

         11  social ills such as this. That's not something they

         12  want to do. Something as simple as a hug, I know

         13  that sounds corny, but maybe they have never gotten

         14  that before.

         15                 So, I think that's hugely important.

         16                 MR. POLLAK: Councilman, I think the

         17  problem of under-aged prostitution, in addition to

         18  the problem of the high delinquency rate as was

         19  mentioned earlier, as well as the problem of

         20  incarceration of youth are really symptoms, and

         21  they're symptoms of a problem of a breakdown on how

         22  New York City and our society supports youth at an

         23  early age.

         24                 I think that right now government

         25  really has sort of two outposts on how to get into
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          2  communities and fight this. One is the Police

          3  Department, and the other is schools, and I think

          4  that some might argue that maybe we need to use the

          5  Police Department more, I would argue that we need

          6  to use schools and community-based centers more to

          7  try and stop the problem before it exists, rather

          8  than just treat it after it exists. And I think the

          9  beacon school concept of trying to bring a community

         10  together, and approaching the development of youth

         11  from schools to after school programs, to evening

         12  and other community-type programs is beyond critical

         13  in terms of supporting the youth in New York City

         14  and make sure that these problems don't happen down

         15  the line.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         17  very much. I would just urge that you put this

         18  higher on your agenda as you move forward in your

         19  new position.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No other

         22  questions from the members, I was just looking at

         23  the three gentlemen's resumes and backgrounds and

         24  the different voluntary activities that you've all

         25  been engaged in. Mr. Pollak is involved with the
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          2  Community Services Society, which is an excellent

          3  organization. Then he moves from there and is also

          4  involved with Advocates For Children, which is a

          5  very powerful organization, and both organizations

          6  have had a lot of positive interaction with and has

          7  worked tirelessly on behalf of all of the residents

          8  of New York City, and then I notice that you're a

          9  "power baby" whatever that is.

         10                 MR. POLLAK: I'm not the only one in

         11  the room.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Well, I hope that

         13  we're all power babies at one point or the other.

         14                 And, Mr. Eaton has been involved with

         15  Triback, he's on Community Board 10, the Cathedral

         16  Club, Heartshare Human Services, Daytop Village,

         17  you're Community Mayor of New York and New Jersey.

         18  We'll have to work on the Jersey part, but...

         19                 And Mr. Shoultz has also an extensive

         20  background, I didn't even get to write down

         21  everything that he's done, but I want to say that

         22  you're all committed to the City, I'm proud that you

         23  want to continue and extend your service in a

         24  volunteer capacity to be a part of the Youth Board,

         25  and I hope that your membership on the Youth Board
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          2  will reinvigorate them and let them tackle the tough

          3  issues that they have.

          4                 As you know, every year the City,

          5  State and federal government want to attack the

          6  amount of summer jobs we have.

          7                 Right now I understand they're going

          8  from 40,000, and last year's budget, which was

          9  ridiculous, because I was a Summer Youth Employment

         10  Counselor and a site supervisor back when we had

         11  100,000, 150,000 kids working in the summer, now

         12  they want to do 5,000 Citywide. That's a terrible

         13  way, terrible way to treat the young people of this

         14  City to limit their opportunities for job and work

         15  experience and cultural fellowship.

         16                 So, I would hope that as part of your

         17  charge, and I would hope that that would be part of

         18  your charge, with your extensive background and

         19  being involved in fundraising groups and other

         20  non-for-profits, that you help to raise the

         21  awareness and make sure that that 5,000 is raised

         22  back to at least the 60,000 that it should be.

         23                 With that, I want to commend you all

         24  for wanting to serve and continuing to serve in this

         25  capacity, and since the members are totally
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          2  disengaged at this point, we will move to a vote.

          3                 Thank you very much. That's on the

          4  record, some members are totally disengaged at this

          5  point. They are so disengaged we don't know that

          6  they're talking about them.

          7                 Roll call, please.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on all.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         11                 (No response.)

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         13                 (No response.)

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: In a completely

         16  engaged fashion, I vote aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: In a completely

         18  attentive fashion, I vote aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Avella.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Baez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye on all.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Se'.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Katz.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye on all.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Weprin.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye on all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Aye on all.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's the entire

         13  Committee.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 13 in the

         15  affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         16  abstentions, all items are adopted. Council members,

         17  please sign the Committee report.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Please don't

         20  leave until you sign the reports, and also turn back

         21  in the confidential folders, and, again, thank you

         22  very much, gentlemen. Congratulations. Thank you,

         23  members of the Committee.

         24                 This meeting is now adjourned.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 11:40 a.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 18th day of December 2002.
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